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PONDS AND LAKES
FOR SHOOTING
AND CONSERVATION

INTRODUCTION
A pond can be defined as a man–made or natural
water body between 1m2 and 2ha in area which holds
water for more than four months of the year.
Wetland areas of all types throughout the UK,
including ponds, have been disappearing at an
alarming rate due to neglect and lack of management.
It is estimated that around three-quarters of the UK’s
ponds have been lost over the last hundred years.
This booklet describes the creation and
management of ponds and lakes for shooting and
conservation. It includes legal requirements and
guidance on who needs to be consulted. While it is
not intended to be a comprehensive design,
construction and management guide it should point
landowners, land managers and sporting tenants in
the right direction.

POND PLANNING AND CONSTRUCTION
Siting
Two main factors decide the best site for a new flight
pond: water availability on site and wildfowl habitats in the
area.
A water supply is essential; however, this does not need
to be a stream or spring. If the water table is high
enough, a pond can simply be excavated, although
moving water will reduce the likelihood of ice formation
and problem weed growth. Whether the pond is ground
water or flow fed the water source should be as clean as
possible.
Ducks use inland ponds and lakes primarily for night
feeding. They also use large undisturbed lakes or
reservoirs as day-time roosts. While duck can be attracted
from a wide area (or introduced into the site) it is most
sensible to position the pond near an existing flight line
(e.g. a river) or roost site. An undisturbed site is also helpful,
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for example one that is as far away from farm buildings and
roads as possible.
An important point to bear in mind when planning habitat
creation is to ensure that you do not destroy something of
interest in the process. Every county has a network of nonstatutory wildlife sites and it is useful check with the
landowner or county council so that you can consider such
sites in your plans. Similarly, the site may have an
archaeological value (even if no remains are visible above
ground) which you should preserve. You can check if this is
the case by contacting your local authority’s historic
environment service.
Otherwise your aim should be to increase diversity of
wildlife not replace one for another. For example, if you have
selected a marshy field as the pond site then retain some of
the existing habitat for the species that depend up on it.

The law
If the land is designated as either a Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) or an Area of Special Scientific Interest
(ASSI) contact BASC for further advice. Otherwise there are
two aspects that you have to consider:
1. Is planning permission required?
2. Is consent required to take water out of, or put water
into, a watercourse?

Planning permission
Under the Town and Country Planning Acts a “change of
use” of land requires planning permission. When looking at
creating or possibly extending ponds then you are
proposing to change land into water. Therefore you must
consult with your local planning authority to see whether
your plans require planning permission.
Very often for small, simple pond creation, planning
permission is not required. However if this is the response
you receive, be sue to get confirmation in writing, so you
can prove your position if questioned in the future.
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For some proposed pond creations planning permission
will be required, so it is always best to check. This is
better than being in the position where the local planning
authority detects the creation and requires you to fill in the
pond or seek retrospective planning permission, which
has no guarantee of success.

Consent for interaction with waterways
The governments of each home country have a body that
regulates water usage. If your pond creation or extension
takes water directly from or puts water directly into a
watercourse, you need to discuss whether consent is
needed. If you are creating a pond which does not
interact with a watercourse you need not consult.
Examples that require consent:
• Diverting a stream to fill a pond
• Draining water into a watercourse from the pond,
including an overflow pipe
• Widening a stream to create a pool
• Impounding a river or stream (creating a dam) to hold
water up
• Impounding water (a dam) to create a pond
The potential consequences of proceeding without the
necessary consents are significant, so if in any doubt
make contact with the relevant body. In addition the
regulatory body may well have some very useful advice
for you to consider.
The bodies are the Environment Agency (EA) for
England and Wales and The Scottish Environmental
Protection Agency (SEPA) for Scotland. Both the Rivers’
Agency (for flooding and drainage) and the Northern
Ireland Environment Agency (for abstraction) must be
contacted in Northern Ireland. Full contact details are
given in the appendix.
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Fish and ponds
If you are interested in stocking fish in a pond that is
connected to an existing waterway you must consult with
SEPA, the EA or the Fisheries Conservancy Board in
Northern Ireland.

Excavated ponds
The most straightforward method of creating a pond is
to excavate using suitable machinery. The questions you
will need to have answered before you do this are how
are you are going to hold the water and where are you
going to put the spoil?
If the water table is near the surface you may only
need to dig the hole. Creating a series of test holes and
observing whether they fill with water, to what height
and at what time of year, should tell you if this an
option. However, if the water table is not sufficiently or
consistently high enough you will have to look at
alternative ways of holding the water.
Artificial linings of puddled clay, polythene (1000
gauge) or butyl rubber can be used. Linings should
always be laid on a smooth surface (e.g. sand) to avoid
puncture. They should also be covered with at least
15cm of earth and extend beyond the edge of the pond
to prevent them being exposed and perishing. Artificial
liners will increase the cost of pond construction
considerably and so are best suited to smaller ponds.
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When the soil is impermeable (e.g. heavy clay) the
excavated hole might well be watertight, although puddled
clay may be needed to patch up any changes in soil type,
which may produce leaks. Some farm stock watering
ponds have been created like this.
Spoil that has been removed during the excavation
process can be used to erect useful features such as
bunds or small mounds to prevent pollution from entering
the pond. These features can either be left to colonise
naturally, providing a good habitat for pioneering species
of plants and invertebrates, or they can be landscaped.
It is important to note that where ponds are proposed
on floodplains, the Environment Agency should be
consulted at an early stage in the planning process. The
Environment Agency usually requires spoil to be
completely removed from the floodplain but reprofiling of
lake margins may offer an alternative.

Flooding to create ponds
If there is a suitable supply of running water (a stream,
spring etc), and if the topography is suitable, creating a
dam and flooding a site is often the easiest way to create
a pond. While the aim of this publication is not to provide
detailed advice on dam construction, several points
should be borne in mind even with the smallest of dams:
• You will almost certainly need planning permission
and you will need consent from the relevant
government regulator of water.
• Each dam should be constructed with an internal core
of well consolidated impermeable soil with a clay
fraction of 20% - 30%.
• The width of the top of the dam should be about
equal to its height while the base should be at least
five times its height. The slope on the wet face and
dry face should be no steeper than 1:2
• If constructed on impermeable soil, the dam base
should be keyed into the foundation soil. If
constructed on porous soil a core trench should be

6

dug down into the impermeable layer and filled with
a clay soil.
• The dam should be constructed in layers 15cm thick
with each layer being compacted with a roller or
suitable machinery.
• All dams must have adequate overflow capacity to
cope with storm flows. An open spillway routed safely
around the dam is the usual method with stones or
concrete to prevent erosion. A minimum of 1m
freeboard between the overflow level and the top of
the dam should be provided. Low level pipes (with a
spillway and a pipe) can also be used.
• Vegetation (grasses and rushes) should be established
on the dam face in order to stabilise it. Trees and
shrubs should never be planted or allowed to grow on
embankments or near overflows. Wind-rocked trees
and root penetration can cause dam failure.
With any dam, careful design and construction are
essential. It is a good idea to seek professional advice
from an experienced engineer.

IMPROVEMENT OF EXISTING PONDS
You may already have a pond and not need to
consider creating a new one. This pond might not,
however, be fulfilling its potential in terms of
shooting and conservation benefits, and
consequently requires restoration.
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Initial survey
Before carrying out any operations to improve the pond it
is useful to carry out an initial survey to establish existing
conditions. In this way you can ensure you retain any
existing features that are of value and also improve others.
This survey should take into account:
•
•
•
•

water quality
depth
stability of the shoreline
existing flora and fauna and their distribution

Water quality
Polluted, or nutrient-rich water bodies may be recognised
by their appearance. Tell-tale signs include a cloudy
appearance, sometimes with a sulphurous smell. Algal
blooms are common in such ponds giving the appearance
of green soup. If any water body suffers from pollution or
nutrient enrichment the immediate aim must be to stop
further deterioration by identifying the source and stopping
it.

Siltation and unwanted plant material
Ponds with a direct on-stream inflow can rapidly become
silted up. This is because moving water can pick up and
carry suspended solids. When the water enters the pond
much of this is deposited because the water moves less
quickly. This leads to marginal plants being able to
colonise all the open water as the water depth decreases,
which is not desirable for a flight pond.
An existing pond may need to be drained and have the
silt removed mechanically. It is very important that any
mechanical removal must cause minimal damage to the
marginal vegetation around the edge of the pond as this
provides a great deal of food and shelter for waterfowl
and other wildlife. Dredged silt or unwanted plant material
should be piled sensitively on the side for a few days so
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that invertebrates have the chance to re-enter the water.
After a suitable period it can be moved and disposed of
responsibly.
Work of this kind should be carried out in autumn, or
winter if practical, to avoid disturbing breeding birds and
to enable vegetation to establish for the following spring.
This means that the habitat is suitable for the breeding
season.
The addition of a silt trap can reduce future siltation
problems for small ponds. Alternatively creating a reedbed
immediately upstream causes the water to deposit the
majority of silt before it enters the pond.
Ponds with no direct inflow will not suffer from siltation
as quickly but they will need management from time to
time.

Design
Design features and vegetation management
recommendations are easier to implement with a new
pond. However, de-silting an existing pond could be a
good opportunity to alter its shape and size. It is
important not to extend a pond with limited water supply
and consider any artificial lining before beginning work.
The best advice is to optimise what you already have. If
your pond has no islands consider rafts for nesting. If the
sides are particularly steep you could consider reducing
the gradient to encourage vegetation and areas suitable for
dabbling ducks to feed.

Costs and funding
The cost of construction and cleaning will vary depending
on the size of pond and soil types. It is always best to get
a number of quotations before offering the work to a
contractor.
The main agri-environment schemes in each country
offer financial incentives for the creation and management
of ponds of high wildlife conservation value. However the
schemes are broader than just pond options, and in order
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to have a competitive application options for the whole
farm need to be included. There are no national funds for
pond creation per se. The main schemes are listed below:
ENGLAND; The Environmental Stewardship Scheme
WALES; Glastir Scheme
SCOTLAND; The Rural Stewardship Scheme
NORTHERN IRELAND; The Countryside Management
Scheme

Contact details are given in the appendix.
Payments for the schemes in each country differ. For
example in England payments are awarded for the
maintenance of ponds of high wildlife value at a rate of
£90 per pond for ponds < 100sq m and £180 per pond
for those >100sq m. In Wales payments are awarded for
the creation and restoration of ponds at a rate of £2.50
per sq m with a maximum of £500 per pond available.
These figures may change in the future, so it always pays
to check before submitting an application.
There are sometimes funds available via local authorities
such as county ccouncils. It is worth making enquiries to
the county ecologist or estate management teams. Finally,
your local wildlife trust may know if any other funds are
available in their areas.

DESIGN FEATURES
Size
It is difficult to be precise on the question of an optimal size
for a pond, since water bodies of all sizes have merits from
a conservation viewpoint. Larger water bodies are usually
more attractive to wintering wildfowl than small ones. As a
general rule as pond size increases, so too does the number
of birds per pond. The Game and Wildlife Conservation Trust
(GWCT) suggests that an absolute minimum size for a farm
pond should be 0.1 - 0.2 ha (1/4 - 1/2 acre) provided that it
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is close to a larger water body or river that wildfowl use.
Wildfowl breeding on smaller sized ponds may have an
increased risk of predation due to the proportionately
larger amount of surrounding land to water area, although
the provision of islands as nesting sites helps to reduce
this.

Depth
Shore profile
An irregular, wavy shore profile with a gentle gradient is
much better than straight one with a steep gradient.
Similarly, it is important to leave the graded shores in a
rough, undulating state rather than smoothed and
combed out. When the pond becomes flooded the
irregularities will provide an interesting variety of
underwater features and micro-habitats.
A shelf with a gradient of 1:2, or even 1:3, will create
conditions for marginal vegetation and prevent
encroachment further into the pond once the depth gets
below 1.5m. In sandy areas steep banks can be left for
nesting sand martins and kingfishers. To be attractive
these must be at least 1.5m above normal water level.
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Shape
One of the most important
aspects of a pond’s design is
its shape. An irregular edge
with plenty of bays and spits
is essential. This design

increases the amount of
highly productive ‘edge’
where land and water meet.
On larger bodies of water it
can also increase the number

Islands
A small pond might support
one, or possibly two, islands
in the centre. In larger ponds
and lakes they should be sited
not less than 30m from the
bank and 15-20m apart.
Islands suitable for wildfowl
breeding need only be 2m 5m diameter. Larger islands
should, if possible, be in the
shape of a Maltese cross
providing sheltered bays
whatever the wind direction.
Gently sloping banks should

It is clear that islands are
definitely preferred by wildfowl
as nest sites. The primary
reason is protection from
predators. They can be used
for both nesting and roosting.
In a new pond they are best
created by leaving a mound of
earth which will remain above
water level. They can also be
created in existing ponds using
a circular ‘stockade’ of posts
filled with rubble and finally
fine gravel.
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of breeding pairs of duck,
since a drake will tend to
defend a shoreline territory,
only as far as he can see.

Wildfowl requirements vary
according to their feeding
habits and provisions can
be made for both dabbling
and diving ducks. Dabbling
ducks require shallow
dabbling areas not deeper
than 40cm to search for
food, and easy access to
the shoreline to preen.
Diving ducks require a water
depth down to 2m to search
for animal and plant food.
You can vary the amount of
shallow water and deeper
water to suit your expected
duck species. However, as a
guide, deep water should be
restricted to approximately
25% of the pond’s surface
area.
For those tempted to
make a very shallow pond
throughout, wishing to
attract mallard, teal and
wigeon, it is worth
remembering the following
point: shallow water is
heated more efficiently by
the sun and in combination
with high nutrient levels in
the water is a recipe for
problem weed growth.
Therefore shallow ponds
must have good quality
water with a low nutrient
level to avoid these
problems.

again be the rule.
While the establishment of
vegetation is essential to
encourage breeding, parts of
larger islands should be kept
free from vegetation providing
resting and preening areas for
ducks. These areas will need to
be periodically cleaned out and
resurfaced. Trees on islands
will provide perches for
predators and should be
avoided.

13

VEGETATION
Why plant?
Water plants are a very important
source of food. They harbour insects
and are food in themselves for wildfowl
and many other bird species. Aquatic
plants will also soak up nutrients,
helping reduce algal blooms. They also
provide valuable shelter from adverse
weather, for example trees and shrubs
on the banks of the pond and stands of
reed at the edge of the water. Finally,
vegetation provides cover from
predators. This is especially important
in providing nesting sites and for
ducklings in their first few weeks after
hatching.
Choosing the right species for
planting is important. Insects and other
animal life will often arrive and colonise
a pond naturally but plants invariably
need to be brought in artificially.
Wetland plants are as important as the
water itself.

What to plant?
Pond vegetation can be roughly divided into four groups,
according to the section of water edge that they occupy,
and whether they are rooted or free floating.

The four main groups are listed below
•

Trees / shrubs – planted a way back from the water’s
edge trees and shrubs can provide shelter from the
wind. Our prevailing wind is from the south west but
in the winter northerly winds are common. Locate
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trees to protect the pond from the most common
wind direction at your site as it does vary. However
do leave openings as duck prefer an easy route in and
out. Trees can also provide good breeding sites, and
some tree seeds are important for ducks as food.
Many species are suitable for coppicing producing
excellent low level bushy growth for nesting cover and
also to hide Guns. Small trees and bushes near the
water’s edge will provide perching sites for kingfishers
and a supply of invertebrates to the pond, but
excessive shading and leaf litter impair water quality
and should be avoided.
• Marginal / emergent plants – the main ‘water edge’
plants grow from practically dry ground down to
water depths of 1m or more. They provide cover and
much food, especially seeds. They also attract
invertebrates and therefore act as ‘duckling survival
habitat’. Some plants in this group can tolerate
fluctuating water levels and are therefore very useful
for reservoir planting schemes.
• Submerged plants – grow to depths of 2m. These are
important as food for diving ducks and generally
encourage invertebrate life. They also improve the
water quality by oxygenation, a key requirement for a
healthy pond.
• Free floating plants can cover a pond completely,
which can cause some problems, but are important
food plants. These species, like duck weed, will be
brought in by visiting waterfowl or transferred with
emergent plants when planting the pond.
When choosing plants always select native species of
local provenance, which means they are taken or grown
from local stock. They will grow best and provide the right
habitat for waterfowl and other wildlife.
You can source some plants from local garden centres
but often they can be transplanted from other ponds in the
area, which can tie in with desilting and emergent plant
control on the donor pond.
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What not to plant - Non-native species
Do not plant any non-native species. They have a lower
value for wildlife and in some cases are disastrous for all
the pond life. Be very careful if transplanting vegetation
from another pond; make sure it does not have non-native
species, which you may transfer by accident to your new
pond. Species to know and avoid are:
Parrot’s feather (Myriophyllum aquaticum)
Australian swamp stonecrop / New Zealand pygmy weed

TREES AND SHRUBS

SPECIES

Alder
Alnus
glutinosa

Willow
Salix spp

Oak
Quercus
spp

Birch
Betula spp

Bramble
Rubus
fruiticosus

GENERAL COMMENTS

VALUE TO
WILDFOWL
AND OTHER
WILDLIFE

Wet soils. Improves poor
soils through nitrogen
fixation

I,N

Wet soils. Coppices well.
Easily propagated from
cuttings. Take care to
ensure it is native variety

I,N

Requires drier soils. Plant
well back from water’s
edge

S,I

Downy birch does well on
wet sites. Silver birch
requires drier sites

S

Very common
in all habitats
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S, N, C

(Crassula helmsii, Tillaea recurva, Tillaea helmsii),
floating pennywort (Hydroctyle ranunculoides),
Himalayan balsam (Impatiens glandulifera),
water fern/fairy fern (Azolla filiculoides),
water primrose (Ludwigia peploides or grandiflora).
KEY TO RECOMMENDED SPECIES BELOW
C
I
L
N

–
–
–
–

S – Seeds readily eaten
Provides good cover
Harbours invertebrates as food Sp – Spores readily eaten
St – Stem readily eaten
Leaves readily eaten
Used for nesting

MARGINAL / EMERGENT PLANTS

GENERAL COMMENTS

VALUE TO
WILDFOWL
AND OTHER
WILDLIFE

Common on organic soils.
Useful for bank stabilisation.
Can be invasive. Should
only be planted on large or
deep water bodies

C,N

By rivers, lakes, ponds
usually where there is much
silt. Should not be confused
Schoenople- with the invasive reedmace
ctus lacustris often called bulrush

S,C

SPECIES

Common
reed
Phragmites
australis

Common
bulrush

Common
spike-rush
Eleocharis
palustris

Hard rush
Juncus
inflexus

In marshes, wet meadows
and by ditches, ponds etc

S,C

Marshes and wet edges of
ponds

S
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SUBMERGED PLANTS
SPECIES

Mare’s tail
Hippurus
vulgaris

Water
crowfoots
Rannunculus
spp

Stoneworts
Chara and
Nitella spp

Water
starworts
Callitriche spp

VALUE TO
WILDFOWL
GENERAL COMMENTS
AND OTHER
WILDLIFE
Locally common in
ponds, lakes and slow
streams. Can withstand
moderately acid
conditions. Tolerates
fluctuating water levels.
(Also emergent forms)

S,C,I

Various species of
aquatic ‘buttercups’.
Common in fresh and
brackish water. Also
floating forms

S,L,I

Abundant in fresh and
brackish waters. Nitella
useful in upland lakes.
Carpets bottom with
clear water above, so
good in shallow ponds

Sp,L

Abundant on still and
moving water. Also has
floating rosettes of
leaves

L,St
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FREE FLOATING PLANTS
SPECIES

Duckweeds
Lemna spp

Frogbit
Hydrocharis
morsus- ranae

VALUE TO
WILDFOWL
GENERAL COMMENTS
AND OTHER
WILDLIFE
Frequent in still
water, often covering
surface

L,St

Locally common on
still water

I
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Planting methods
It is clear that the pattern of vegetation is of great
importance. The water plants is food for wildfowl and
harbour abundant insect life which are also important.
In most cases the site preparation needed for planting
new or existing ponds will be minimal. The success of
transplanted aquatic species is usually high and growth
rate can be rapid. There are, however, a number of factors
that should be considered when embarking on a planting
programme:
• Nature of water body – Before embarking on a
planting regime it is important to assess the nature of
the water body so that suitable plant species can be
selected. For example is the water body acidic, with a
sand, gravel or peat substrate which could make it
nutrient poor or is it calcareous, alkaline, nutrient rich
and good for plant growth? Is the water cloudy or
clear, deep or shallow? These are all factors which will
affect how well the species of plant will establish and
survive.
• Transplanting – There are very few commercial
sources of large quantities of suitable native aquatic
species. The best way to ensure successful planting is
to transplant material from existing sources. This may
involve taking material from a neighbour’s pond.
Plants growing there will be able to adapt to the
prevailing water and soil conditions in the vicinity.
The neighbour’s permission must, of course, be
sought. As highlighted previously, avoid exotic species
which can be very invasive and only use native or
naturalised plants.
• Site preparation – It is quite common for there to be
very little if any site preparation needed. However, if
there is very hard rock or compacted gravel forming a
bed it is advised that a layer of topsoil should be
added.
• Number of plants – In any aquatic planting scheme
only a small number of each species needs to be
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introduced. In most cases plants will spread quite
rapidly and once established they can be moved
around the pond to fill in any gaps that may have
formed.
• Creating a plant profile – The aim when planting
should be to create a plant profile using species from
each of the four categories (See page 11). Reeds,
especially common reed and reedmace, tend to be
invasive and grow in pure stands. They can however,
be contained by creating a deep water channel of
around 1.5 to 2m depth around these areas in larger
ponds.

Vegetation management
Ponds and other wetlands are not permanent habitats.
They undergo a process called ‘succession’ whereby they
gradually fill up with silt, leaves and dead organic matter.
Terrestrial plants start to colonise the pond and eventually
it will turn into scrub and woodland.
To avoid this, ponds may need to be de-silted and
unwanted plant growth removed, normally every seven to
ten years. Working by hand is common but can be hard
work if the area to be cleared, of say reedmace, is large.
In these situations the use of a suitable machine such as
a long-arm digger is very helpful.

ENCOURAGING WILDLIFE TO YOUR POND
Almost any water body, regardless of its size, will have
some wildlife value. This value can be greatly increased if
the pond is well-designed and maintained. The best way
to encourage a wide variety of pond plants and animals is
to maintain a range of different pond types. In most cases
individual ponds that contain a variety of different habitat
types tend to support a larger number of species,
however, it is more beneficial to maintain a range of ponds
rather than try and cram every habitat into a single pond.
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Species of importance to consider
Water vole Arvicola terrestris
Water voles live in the banks of ponds and lakes as well
as streams and rivers. They are thought to have
disappeared from almost 90% of sites where they used to
be found. This is mainly due to the loss of suitable
habitat through the removal of bankside vegetation.
Predation by the invasive American mink is also a major
contributing factor to their decline. The water vole is listed
on Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
(see details in Protected species in your pond). Water
voles are absent in Northern Ireland.

How can I encourage water voles?
• It is important to leave a buffer strip – ideally two
metres or more around the edge of your pond to
provide a source of food and cover for water voles.
The buffer strip can be mown once a year in autumn
in order to prevent scrub colonisation.
• The bankside of your pond should be kept open in
order to encourage grasses and other green plants
that water voles favour.
• Water voles prefer a pond with a varied bank profile.
Banks of 45 degrees are best suited to water voles;
banks with a more shallow profile are better suited to
amphibians and invertebrates.
• Maintain areas of the pond where the water depth is
between 25 and 50cm.
• By controlling
numbers of American
mink through the
use of live
capture traps
water voles can
be encouraged
back to areas
where they may
have been absent
for some time.
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Great crested newt Triturus cristatus
The great crested newt is found in lowland habitats
across Northern Europe. The newt is widely
distributed throughout most of England but is thought
to be rare in parts of Cornwall and Devon as well as
parts of Wales and Scotland. The newt uses a
variety of ponds for breeding in but is most
commonly found in medium to large sized ponds
typically on farmland. The great crested newt is
listed on Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (see details in Protected
species in your pond). Great crested newts are absent in
Northern Ireland.

How can I encourage great crested newts?
• Rough vegetation around the edge of your pond
provides important cover for newly emerged
young newts.
• Providing submerged aquatic vegetation will
provide the newts with a place to lay eggs.
• Providing suitable habitat within 500m of the
breeding pond is also important. Hedgerows, rough
grassland and dry stone walls all provide safe refuges
for newts while they are on the move between sites.
• Fish will eat all sizes of great crested newt larvae so if
you’re encouraging great crested newts it’s a good
idea to refrain from stocking your pond.
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Dragonflies and damselflies
Dragonflies are among the most ancient land-living
species on the planet having thought to have been in
existence for around 300 million years. During the past 40
years three species of dragonflies have become extinct in
the UK. As they require good environmental conditions,
dragonflies and damselflies are very good indicators of
wetland habitat quality.

How can I encourage dragonflies and damselflies?
• Providing a permanent water body with plenty of
bankside vegetation will encourage dragonflies and
damselflies to your pond.
• Long vegetation on the bankside of your pond will
provide a place to perch, roost and lay eggs.
• Submerged plants such as pondweeds provide places
for larvae to develop and plants emerging from
the water such as rushes and reeds are
important for larvae to climb up when they
are ready to emerge as adults.
• Some flat stone or slate placed
around the edge of
your pond will enable dragonflies
and damselflies to
bask in the sunshine.
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Protected species in your pond
Many species of importance in the UK are protected under
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and The Wildlife
(Northern Ireland) Order 1985. The legislation makes it an
offence (with exception to species listed in Schedule 2) to
intentionally kill, injure, or take any wild bird or their eggs
or nests. It also makes it an offence (subject to
exceptions) to intentionally kill, injure, take, possess, or
trade in any wild animal listed in Schedule 5 of the Acts,
and prohibits interference with places used for shelter or
protection, and intentionally disturbing animals occupying
such places.
When carrying out management on your pond it is
imperative that you know what is in your pond, ensuring
that all the correct measures are taken in order not to
commit a criminal offence.
For more information on protected species, including a
list of those included on Schedule 5 of the legislation
contact the appropriate organisation listed in the appendix.
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Shooting Management
Releasing duck
Many shoots release reared duck onto their flight ponds
to supplement wild birds attracted by artificial feeding.
Overstocking of released duck will lead to over-grazing
in addition to enrichment of the water through their
faeces, consequently damaging water quality. It is not
possible to set a limit but four or five mallard
permanently residing on a 0.1ha pond is a good guide
for a stocking rate. You can release a higher density
but you must ensure that there are alternative ponds
and wetlands for them to use, and encourage them to
do so, to avoid problems. To do this you have to
provide a limited amount of artificial feed at each pond
or wetland in rotation so that the birds learn to move to
take advantage of this. The aim is that the birds regard
the pond you wish to shoot as an evening feeding site.
There is the risk that you will loose a few birds in this
approach but the quality of the birds you will shoot will
outweigh this. Further details can be obtained from
BASC.
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Artificial feeding
For many people the mainstay of management for
attracting wild duck is artificial feeding. A fundamental
rule is not to overfeed as it can lead to a loss in water
quality as uneaten food releases its nutrients as it
degrades. Feeding in the late afternoon or early evening
and revisiting the following morning to check that all the
food has been taken is best practice. Barley and wheat
can be scattered by hand primarily in the shallow areas of
the pond with a little put on the bank. In terms of how
much to use, a rough guide is a one bucket of grain for
100 duck for one night. Automatic feeders are becoming
popular and the same principles apply. If potatoes are
used they should only be put on the bank. If they enter
the pond in any quantity, they significantly raise the
nutrient levels when they rot down. This can lead to
problem weed growth and a decrease in water quality.

How often to shoot
One evening’s shooting every three weeks is a good
starting point for a new pond but many can be shot once
a fortnight without causing a problem. If in doubt shoot
less regularly as it is better to have duck flying confidently
into the pond on the nights you decide to shoot.

Lead shot, wildfowl and alternatives
It has been known for many years now that waterfowl die
from lead poisoning after ingesting lead shot which has
fallen into wetland habitats. International agreements, and
now national legislation, require that use of lead shot on
wetlands has to be phased out to prevent unnecessary
losses of waterfowl. The following information is correct
for the 2009/2010 season. It is illegal to shoot any duck
or goose, coot or moorhen, in England and Wales with
lead shot. This applies wherever you are. [Note that
shooting lead shot on or over the foreshore is prohibited,
as is shooting with lead shot on a number of designated

27

SSSI wetland sites which are important for wintering
waterfowl].
In Scotland and Northern Ireland it is illegal to use lead
shot on or over any wetland for any reason. So if you
shoot over a pnd in Scotland or Northern Ireland you must
use an alternative to lead shot. If you are at all uncertain
then please check with BASC.
In summary, for shooting flight ponds in England, Wales
and Scotland you have to choose from a shot material
other than lead. Please note that the Code of Good
Shooting Practice, supported by all shooting
organisations, calls for no lead shot, from all types of
shooting, to fall into any wetlands used by feeding
waterfowl.
There is a range of options for non-lead shot but the
most popular are steel, bismuth and tungsten-based shot.
All can be effective when used responsibly. Extra care is
needed for shooting steel shot. Further details can be
obtained from BASC on these shot types and how to
assess which is the best choice for you and your gun.
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APPENDIX – CONTACT ADDRESSES
Governmental water regulating bodies
To be contacted for advice and to arrange consent when
creating a pond connecting to an existing water course.

ENGLAND AND WALES
The Environment Agency
Rio House, Waterside Drive, Aztec West, Almondsbury,
Bristol BS32 4UD
Phone: 0845 933 3111
www.environment-agency.gov.uk

SCOTLAND
The Scottish Environmental Protection Agency
Erskine Court, Castle Business Park,
Stirling FK9 4TR
Phone: 01786 457700
www.sepa.org.uk

NORTHERN IRELAND
The Rivers’ Agency (for drainage implications)
Hydebank, 4 Hospital Road,
Belfast BT8 8JP
Phone: 028 9025 3355
www.riversagencyni.gov.uk
Northern Ireland Environment Agency
for abstraction licences
Water Management Unit, 17 Antrim Road, Lisburn,
County Antrim BT28 3TL
Phone: 028 9262 3100
www.ni-environment.gov.uk
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FUNDING FOR PONDS
To be contacted for advice when seeking funding for
creating or restoring a pond.

ENGLAND
The Environmental Stewardship Scheme
Natural England, Northminster House,
Peterborough PE1 1UA
Phone: 0845 600 3078
www.naturalengland.org.uk

WALES
Glastir - due 2011
Welsh Assembly Government
Cathays Park,
Cardiff CF10 3NQ
Phone: 0845 010 3300 (English)
or 0845 010 4400 (Welsh)
www.new.wales.gov.uk

SCOTLAND
The Rural Stewardship Scheme
Scottish Government, Victoria Quay,
Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
Phone: 08457 741741
www.scotland.gov.uk

NORTHERN IRELAND
The Countryside Management Scheme
Department for Agriculture and Rural Development,
Lindesay Hall, Loughry Campus, Dungannon Road,
Cookstown BT80 9AA
Phone: 028 8675 7507
www.ruralni.gov.uk
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PROTECTED SPECIES IN YOUR POND
To be contacted for advice when managing a pond with
protected species present.

ENGLAND
Natural England
Northminster House,
Peterborough PE1 1UA
Phone: 0845 600 3078
www.naturalengland.org.uk

SCOTLAND
Scottish Natural Heritage
Great Glen House,
Leachkin Road,
Inverness IV3 8NW
01463 725000
www.snh.org.uk

NORTHERN IRELAND
Northern Ireland Environment Agency
Conservation Designations and Protection
Klondyke Building, Cromac Avenue,
Gasworks Business Park,
Lower Ormeau Road,
Belfast BT7 2JA
www.ehsni.gov.uk

WALES
Countryside Council for Wales
Maes y Ffynnon,
Penrhosgarnedd, Bangor,
Gwynedd LL57 2DW
Phone: 0845 1306 229
www.ccw.gov.uk

Acknowledgement to John Paley and A.S. for illustrations
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